# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### MARY ELIZABETH BROWN ROBINSON

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO. 2009-CA-01599

VS.

# PAUL ARTHUR BROWN

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LEE COUNTY

# BRIEF OF APPELLANT

## **COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:**

WILLIAM R. WRIGHT (MS P W. BENTON GREGG (MS E TRHESA B. PATTERSON (MS E AMANDA JANE PROCTOR (MS B.

WRIGHT LAW FIRM, P.A. 1062 Highland Colony Parkway 200 Concourse, Suite 250 Ridgeland, MS 39157 Post Office Box 12745 Jackson, Mississippi 39236 Telephone: (601) 366-8090 Facsimile: (601) 366-3080

**ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED** 

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

# MARY ELIZABETH BROWN ROBINSON VS.

PAUL ARTHUR BROWN

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the chancellor erred in failing to grant the Appellant a continuance when the Appellee served his answers to discovery on the morning of the trial which did not give the Appellant sufficient time to prepare for trial.
- II. Whether the chancellor erred in finding that the Appellee had met his burden of proving a substantial and material change in circumstances that adversely affected the best interest of the children, such that modification of custody was warranted.
- III. Whether the chancellor erred and/or abused his discretion in his "*Albright* analysis" and in shifting primary physical custody of the minor children to the Appellee.
- IV. Whether the chancellor erred in ordering the Appellant to pay child support in the amount of twenty percent of her adjusted gross income, or \$1,049.09 per month.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

*Nature of the Case, the Course of the Proceedings, and its Disposition in the Court Below.* These parties were divorced on July 29, 2002. The *Final Judgment of Divorce* approved and incorporated the parties' agreement of joint legal custody of their two teen-aged children, Ruth and Mary. The parties further agreed that the Appellant, "Liz", would have primary physical custody, subject to the Appellee, "Paul's", visitation rights.

Liz has since remarried. Her husband, Lance Robinson, lives in Ocean Springs, Mississippi. In the summer of 2009, Liz moved to Ocean Springs to be with her husband. In response to Liz's relocation, Paul filed a *Motion for Modification of Child Custody and for Other Relief*, seeking primary physical custody. On July 3, 2009, Liz filed her *Answer to Motion for Modification of Child Custody* and a *Counter-Complaint for Citation of Contempt and Other Relief*. On July 10, 2009, Paul filed his *Answer to Counter-Complaint for Citation for Contempt of Court and for Other Relief*.

Paul's *Motion for Modification* and the resulting trial were based on Liz's relocation, and the children's preference to remain in Lee County with their father. After a trial over one and a half days, the chancellor concluded that physical custody should be granted to Paul. This is an appeal

from the court's Order terminating Liz's primary physical custody rights and awarding them to Paul.

Liz contends here that the chancellor erred in several ways, including his denial of her motion for a continuance when Paul served his discovery responses on the morning of trial, his finding that Paul met his burden of proving that there was a substantial and material change in circumstances that adversely affected the best interest of the children, in his "*Albright* analysis," which resulted in his shifting physical custody of the children from Liz to Paul, and in his award of child support.

b. Statement of Facts.

Liz and Paul were married on September 5, 1987. Their older child, Ruth, was born on September 9, 1990. Their younger child, Mary, was born on February 3, 1994.

On July 29, 2002, the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi entered its *Final Judgment* of *Divorce* which incorporated the parties' agreement regarding child custody, child support, visitation, and other related matters. (Record at 018-019; Record Excerpts 00004-00005.)

Pursuant to the parties' agreement, child custody was awarded as follows: "That the parties shall have joint legal custody of the minor children, namely: Ruth Elizabeth Brown and Mary Rachel Brown, with Mary Elizabeth Brown to have primary physical custody." (R. at 019; R.E. 00005.) The agreement also provided that Paul shall pay Liz the sum of \$475.00 per month for child support. (R. at 020; R.E. 00006.) Paul was further ordered to maintain health and dental insurance coverage on the minor children, and the parties agreed to equally divide all uncovered medical, dental, and prescription medicine expenses. (R. at 021; R.E. 00007.) The parties also agreed to each be responsible for paying one-half of any and all reasonable tuition and fees incurred on behalf of the minor children to receive a college education. (R. at 022; R.E. 00008.)

On July 29, 2008, the chancellor entered an *Agreed Order* finding: Paul was \$7,238.00 in arrears in child support, Paul had failed to provide health insurance for the children, Paul had failed

to pay \$6,512.00 for the children's medical and dental bills, and Paul should be responsible for \$1,250 of the attorneys' fees incurred by Liz in bringing the matter before the court. (R. at 064; R.E. 00011.) Liz was awarded a judgment against Paul in the amount of \$15,000.00, plus interest at the rate of eight percent per annum. (R. at 065; R.E. 00012.) Paul was ordered to pay a lump sum of \$2,500 within 45 days of the entry of the *Order*. Thereafter, Paul was ordered to pay \$200.00 per month, and to provide Liz with copies of his income tax returns each year until the judgment was fully satisfied. (R. at 065; R.E. 00012.) Paul was also ordered to reimburse Liz for the cost that she incurred each month to maintain insurance coverage for the children until such time as Paul provided proof that he had obtained insurance coverage on the children. (R. at 066; R.E. 00013.) Finally, Paul was ordered to pay Liz the sum of \$561.12 per month in child support. (R. at 065; R.E. 00012.)

At the time of the divorce, Liz was a registered nurse and a case manager for Genex. (Trial Tr. 289, Aug. 4-5, 2009; R.E. 00336.) After the divorce, Liz traveled occasionally on business and to improve her earning capacity. Liz also attended classes through the University of Florida to become a certified lifecare planner, and she received additional certifications as a Medicare set aside consultant and a professional coder. (Tr. 289; R.E. 00336.)

Liz met her current husband, Lance Robinson, through her employment. (Tr. 296; R.E. 00343.) Liz has known Lance as a business associate for over ten years, and five years ago, she went to work for the same company as Lance – Rehabilitation Inc. (Tr. 273-274; R.E. 00320-00321.) Liz and Lance dated for two years, and they married on June 5, 2009. (Tr. 12, 274; R.E. 00059, 00321.)

Prior to their marriage, Liz had a long distance relationship with Lance, who has lived in Ocean Springs most of his life. (Tr. 301; R.E. 00348.) Lance also has a five-year-old child from a previous relationship who lives in that area. (Tr. 301; R.E. 00348.) In the summer of 2009, Liz moved to Ocean Springs to be with her new husband. Paul was aware of Liz's intention to relocate

for eight or nine months before she moved. (Tr. 56; R.E. 00103.) While Liz often works from home, she and Lance also have an office near their home in Ocean Springs. (Tr. 273, 301; R.E. 00320, 00348.) Liz's older daughter, Ruth, began college at the University for Women in the fall of 2009. (Tr. 92; R.E. 00139.) However, Liz planned to take her younger daughter, Mary, to Ocean Springs to live with her and Lance. Liz made numerous efforts during the summer of 2009 to get Mary excited about the relocation and to ease the transition. (Tr. 265-267; R.E. 00312-314.) Mary rejected these efforts and stated she preferred to remain in Lee County with her father. (Tr. 163; R.E. 00210.)

In response to Liz's relocation, Paul filed a *Motion for Modification of Child Custody and for Other Relief*, requesting primary physical custody of the minor children. Paul's *Motion* specifically alleged that there had been a material change in circumstances adverse to the best interests of the parties' minor children based on the following:

Defendant, Mary Elizabeth Brown, has recently remarried and is planning to move out of town. That said minor children desire to continue their education in the Lee County School District. That said minor children are currently eighteen (18) years old and fifteen (15) years old, respectively, and would prefer to live with the Plaintiff [Paul]. That the minor children have lived more of the time with the Plaintiff than the Defendant and the minor children feel more stable living with the Plaintiff.

(R. at 082; R.E. 00017.)

Liz filed an *Answer to Motion for Modification of Child Custody and for Other Relief*, which denied that modification of custody was warranted and raised affirmative defenses of unclean hands and a motion to dismiss pursuant to MISS. R. CIV. PRO. 12(b)(6). (R. at 091-092; R.E. 00020-00021.) Liz also filed a *Counter-Complaint for Citation of Contempt and Other Relief*, alleging Paul was in contempt of court for his refusal to pay child support, his refusal to maintain health insurance coverage on the minor children or to reimburse Liz for the cost she incurred in maintaining insurance coverage, his refusal to pay medical and dental bills incurred by the children, and his failure to pay

the children's college expenses. (R. at 093-096; R.E. 00022-00025.) On July 10, 2009, Paul filed his *Answer to Counter-Complaint for Citation for Contempt of Court and for Other Relief*, wherein he denied Liz's allegations that he was in contempt of court. (R. at 110; R.E. 00031.)

3 J

The case was originally set for a hearing on July 22, 2009; however, Liz's counsel filed a *Motion for Continuance*, citing a scheduling conflict and Liz's need for additional time to conduct discovery in order to prepare for trial. (R. at 100; Tr. 3; R.E. 00027, 00050.) On July 6, 2009, Liz propounded her *First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents and/or Tangible Things* to Paul. (R. at 105; R.E. 00029.) The parties had agreed to expedite the discovery process and to quickly set the case for trial, especially since the issues involved where the children would attend school that fall. (Tr. 3, 4-5; R.E. 00050, 00051-00052.) Paul's counsel served his discovery responses by faxing them to Liz's counsel at 10:52 a.m. on the first day of trial. (Tr. 3-4; R.E. 00050-00051.) The trial commenced at 1:40 p.m. that same day. (Tr. 1, R.E. 00044.)

The case was tried on August 4 and 5, 2009. At the commencement of trial, Liz's counsel testified that he had not had sufficient time to review Paul's discovery responses with his client, and that there were issues raised in Paul's responses that they were not prepared to respond to with only a few hours notice. (Tr. 4, 6; R.E. 00051, 00053.) Liz also testified that she was able to only very briefly review the financial documents provided that morning by Paul in his discovery responses. (Tr. 23; R.E. 00070.) Liz's counsel asked for a continuance so that he could be fully prepared for trial. (Tr. 4; R.E. 00051.) Paul's counsel asked the court to deny the continuance, alleging he had fully discussed their discovery responses with Liz's counsel the day before trial, that nothing unexpected was in their responses, and that school was scheduled to begin that Thursday. (Tr. 5; R.E. 00052.) The chancellor overruled Liz's motion for a continuance, in part because school was starting that Thursday and because change of custody was an issue. (Tr. 7; R.E. 00054.)

The court then addressed Liz's defense of unclean hands and her allegation that Paul was in contempt of court. Paul confessed that he was in contempt of the July 29, 2008 *Agreed Order* for not timely paying the lump sum of \$2,500.<sup>1</sup> (Tr. 8; R.E. 00055.) The parties stipulated that as of August 4, 2009, Paul was in arrears in the sum of \$22,290.30,<sup>2</sup> which included interest and additional attorneys fees. (Tr. 24-25; R. at 121; R.E. 00036, 00071-00072.) The court found Paul in contempt of court and ordered him to pay \$22,290.30 by 4:00 p.m. on August 5, 2009, plus a \$100 fine.<sup>3</sup> (Tr. 26; R. at 121; R.E. 00036, 00073.) The Court then denied Liz's motion to dismiss based on the doctrine of unclean hands and proceeded with the complaint for modification.<sup>4</sup> (Tr. 27; R.E. 00074.)

The remainder of the trial dealt with Paul's *Motion for Modification of Child Custody* and focused on Liz's relocation to Ocean Springs. As the chancellor stated post-trial:

this Court finds by clear and convincing evidence that a substantial and material change in circumstances has occurred, to-wit, that the defendant/counter plaintiff moving to Ocean Springs seeking to take the children with her, the testimony is clear that the actions testified to have or likely will harm the children by increased anxiety and depression caused by their unnecessary uprooting from all that they know and love and that they are forced to move.

(Tr. 349-350; R.E. 00396-000397.) Paul cited Liz's relocation in his Motion for Modification as the

reason for the children's preference to remain with him in Lee County. Liz's position was that the

<sup>2</sup>This amount did not include college expenses for the parties' older daughter, Ruth, who would begin college that fall. (Tr. 18-19, 24; R.E. 00065-00066, 00071.)

<sup>3</sup>The Court ordered that Paul be incarcerated for his contempt, but held this in abeyance contingent upon him paying the judgment in full by 4:00 p.m. on August 5, 2009. (Tr. 26-27; R. at 121; R.E. 00036, 00073-00074.)

<sup>4</sup> At the conclusion of the trial, after Paul tendered a check in the appropriate amount, the court found Paul had purged himself of his contempt, assuming the check was good, and dismissed Liz's defenses of unclean hands and her motion to dismiss. (Tr. 348; R.E. 00395.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Instead, Paul admitted he had only paid \$500, and that he paid an additional \$1,500 on the day of trial. (Tr. 8, R.E. 00055.)

only change since the divorce was her relocation to Ocean Springs and that her relocation was not a material change justifying modification of custody. (Tr. 203-204; 294; R.E. 00250-00251, 00341.) The parties' older child, Ruth, admitted at trial that the only change since the divorce was her mother's relocation. (Tr. 157; R.E. 00204.) Ruth further admitted the most important issue for her sister, Mary, was the relocation from Saltillo, Lee County to Ocean Springs. (Tr. 109; R.E. 00156.)

At trial, Paul alleged a material change in circumstances had occurred in that the children preferred to remain with him and that Liz had remarried and moved to Ocean Springs. (Tr. 30-32; R.E. 00077-00079.) Paul testified that requiring Mary to move to Ocean Springs would devastate her because Ruth would not be able to drive down every weekend from Columbus to see her. (Tr. 33; R.E. 00080.) Mary similarly testified that it would break her heart if she were six hours away from her sister. (Tr. 169; R.E. 00216.) Also, Mary testified she wanted to finish out her last three years of high school in Saltillo and wanted to remain with her father, family, friends and school. (Tr. 163, 170, 179; R.E. 00210, 00217, 00226.) Although Mary spent three weeks over the summer with her mother in Ocean Springs, she said she was miserable during that time. (Tr. 166; R.E. 00213.)

Following trial, the chancellor issued his Order on August 28, 2009. That Order stated:

That this Court has reached its determination of changes, since the divorce, based on all of the above,<sup>5</sup> and accordingly, the Court finds by clear and convincing evidence

That the court is well aware that the mere unhappiness of a child is not sufficient to justify a change of custody and that in order to successfully modify an existing custody order, a party must show that there has been a substantial and material change in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the preceding paragraphs, the chancellor found:

That both children have expressed their preference to be with their father, the Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant, and not their mother, the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, who has remarried and moved from Lee County, Mississippi, to Ocean Springs, Mississippi, to be where her current husband, Lance Robinson, could be near his five-year-old child from a previous marriage. That the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff nor her husband's employment required this move.

that a substantial and material change in circumstances has occurred, to-wit, that the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff moving to Ocean Springs seeking to take the children with her, the testimony is clear that the actions testified to have or likely will harm the children by increased anxiety and depression cause by their unnecessary uprooting from all that they know and love and that they are forced to move.

(R. at 123; R.E. 00038) (emphasis added.)

After summarily concluding that Liz's relocation constituted a substantial and material change in circumstances, the chancellor conducted a best interest of the child analysis under *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003 (Miss. 1983). (R. at 123-127; R.E. 00038-42.) Thereafter, the court concluded that physical custody should be modified to be granted to Paul. The court also ordered Liz to pay child support at twenty percent (20%) of her adjusted gross income. (R. at 127; R.E. 00042.)

On September 24, 2009, Liz filed her Notice of Appeal.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An appellate court "may reverse a chancellor's decision only if it is manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard." *Staggs v. Staggs*, 919 So. 2d 112, 115 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Brocato v. Brocato*, 731 So. 2d 1138, 1140 (Miss. 1999)); *see also Lambert v. Lambert*, 872 So. 2d 679, 683 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

As to findings of fact, the appellate court reviews for abuse of discretion. *Marter v. Marter*, 914 So.2d 743, 746 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing Rogers v. Morin, 791 So. 2d 815, 826

15.

(R. at 122; R.E. 00037.)

circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child and the best interest of the child to require the change the [sic] custody.

That this Court must and has looked at the totality of the circumstances in the best interest of both of the children, which best interest is at the polestar consideration in reaching its determination and that remarriage itself does not constitute a material change in circumstances that would justify a change of custody, nor does a simple move, which the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff had every right to do.

(Miss. 2001)). "[A]s to questions of law, an appellate court reviews *de novo* whether the trial court applied the proper legal standard in deciding a custody modification request." *Id.* (citing *Morgan v. West*, 812 So.2d 987, 990 (Miss. 2002)). It is not sufficient that a chancellor state the correct legal standard; the chancellor must also apply that standard appropriately. *See id.* at 747.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

A. The chancellor erred in failing to grant Liz a continuance. Paul failed to serve his discovery responses until the morning of the first day of trial. Liz did not have an adequate opportunity to review Paul's responses. As a result, Liz was unprepared for trial. She was unable to adequately respond to new allegations that Paul revealed in his responses and to new testimony that arose at trial. The chancellor abused his discretion is denying Liz's motion for a continuance, and Liz suffered prejudice as a result of the denial.

B. The traditional test for modification of custody requires that the moving party demonstrate, by a preponderance of evidence, a material change in circumstances in the custodial parent's home that adversely affects the welfare of the children. After that burden has been met, the moving party must show that modification of custody is in the best interest of the children.

Under Mississippi law, when one parent has sole physical custody, the custodial parent's relocation does not constitute a material change in circumstances justifying a modification of custody. The chancellor erred in finding Paul had met his burden of proving a material and substantial change in circumstances based on Liz's relocation to another part of the state.

The chancellor further erred in finding Paul had met his burden of proving an adverse affect on the best interest of the children. The parties' younger child Mary expressed unhappiness during her three week visit to Ocean Springs with her mother, and Mary further stated her desire to remain in her hometown of Saltillo. However, a child's reluctance to move is typical in

relocation cases and does not satisfy Paul's burden of proving adverse affect. Because Mary never moved to Ocean Springs, Paul and the children could only speculate as to potential adverse affect. Therefore, the chancellor erred in finding that Paul had met his burden of proving a material change in circumstances and adverse affect so that custody modification was warranted.

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