# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01599

MARY ELIZABETH BROWN ROBINSON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

PAUL ARTHUR BROWN

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL from THE CHANCERY COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Lee County Chancery Court Cause No. 02-0518-41-H

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE, PAUL ARTHUR BROWN

EDWIN H. PRIEST
Priest & Wise, PLLC
301 West Main Street
Post Office Box 46
Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-0046
(662) 842-4656
Mississippi Bar Ne

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01599 (Lee County Chancery Court Cause No. 02-0518-41-H)

MARY ELIZABETH BROWN ROBINSON

**APPELLANT**

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

#### 2. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. Husband filed a Motion for Modification of Child Custody pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 81(d)(2). Husband's Motion was set for hearing on July 22, 2009. In response, Wife filed her answer on July 3, 2009. On July 7, 2009, Wife's attorney filed a Motion for Continuance. By agreement, all pleadings were reset for hearing on August 4, 2009, and any discovery was to be expedited. Wife's attorney provided her discovery responses on August 3, 2009 and Husband's attorney provided Husband's discovery responses on August 4, 2009. Prior to exchanging discovery, the parties' counsel had spoken by telephone concerning the contents of the

other's discovery. Despite the aforementioned agreements between the parties' counsel, Wife's counsel orally requested on the date of trial an additional continuance. The Chancellor, upon due consideration, denied her motion and the trial proceeded. The Chancellor was well within his discretion in denying the motion and more importantly, Wife suffered no prejudice as a result of the denial.

B. In order to modify child custody, at trial, the parent seeking custody and modification must show: (1) a material change in circumstances occurred since the issuance of the decree sought to be modified; (2) that the material change adversely affected the minor child; and (3) it would be in he child's best interest for custody to change. *Pruett v. Prinz*, 979 So.2d 745, 750 (Miss.App.2008). Regardless, as provided in *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003 (Miss. 1983) "the best interest of the child remains the Court's polestar consideration."

The Chancellor correctly found based upon the totality of the circumstances that Husband had met the first prong. In fact, the Chancellor actually held Husband to a higher standard in requiring him to meet his burden "by clear and convincing evidence" as opposed to the recognized standard "by a preponderance of the evidence". In making his determination that there had been a material change in circumstances based upon the totality of the circumstances, the Court noted that while a relocation in and of itself may not be sufficient, that such a change may be taken into account when a relocation was not necessary for economic or professional opportunity and that the parties' fifteen year old daughter, Mary, was extremely unhappy which had caused or was likely to cause increased anxiety and depression, and that children were being uprooted from all that they had ever known and loved.

The Chancellor also was correct in using his broad discretion in finding that Husband had met the second prong of a child modification test. Again, the Court looked at the totality of the circumstances which had occurred at the time of the hearing as well as the adverse effect that would likely happen to Mary if in fact custody was not modified.

- C. The Court, after having found that Husband had met the burden of proof concerning the first two prongs of a child modification trial or hearing, went into a detailed analysis of the *Albright* factors addressing each one in kind. In so addressing the *Albright* factors, the Court found that five factors favored Husband while only one favored Wife with the balance favoring neither party. Based upon the Court's analysis, the Chancellor correctly concluded that it was in the best interest of the children that physical custody be modified.
- D. The Chancellor correctly addressed the issue of child support. Specifically, the Chancellor did make a written finding as to reasonableness when he noted the amount of Wife's monthly income was Five Thousand Two Hundred Forty-Five and 56/100 Dollars (\$5,245.56) and set her monthly support obligation as twenty percent (20%) of said amount. The Court further provided a written finding as to reasonableness when he noted that the amount of child support of One Thousand Forty-Nine and 09/100 (\$1,049.09) was being set despite the fact the Court questioned whether some of Wife's withholdings were not customarily considered as mandatory. Consequently, the Chancellor was correct in not deviating from the guidelines in establishing the amount of child support as contemplated by Miss. Code Ann. §83-19-101(4). Finally, he allowed the record to remain open for any additional proof concerning support.

#### 3. ARGUMENT

I. The Chancellor erred in failing to grant Liz a continuance when Paul served his answer to the discovery on the morning of the trial which did not give Liz sufficient time to prepare for trial.

Wife argues that at the commencement of the trial that she should have been granted a continuance in that she did not have proper time to prepare for trial. Wife argues that the Chancellor abused his discretion in denying her motion. See *Wilson v. Wilson*, 975 So.2d 261 (Miss.App.2007) (citing *Profilet v. Profilet*, 826 So.2d 91, 93 (Miss. 2002) (trial court has broad discretion in whether to grant continuance and we will not reverse decision unless it resulted in manifest injustice).

The Chancellor correctly denied the motion for continuance. Wife's argument is misplaced. Husband filed his Motion for Modification of Child Custody pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 81(d)(2) which provides in pertinent part as follows:

The following actions and matters shall be triable seven (7) days after completion of [personal] service of process...., to-wit: modification or enforcement of custody, support....

Consequently, pursuant to Rule 81(d)(2), the matter was proper for hearing without any discovery taking place. Regardless, Husband filed the instant action on June 19, 2009, and Wife's attorney entered his appearance on July 7, 2009 pursuant to a Motion for Continuance. (R. at 100-101; R.E. 00027-0028.) By agreement, the motion for modification was continued from July 22, 2009 until August 4, 2009. (R.E. 00051.) Despite the limitations of Rule 81(d)(2), Wife did have the opportunity to propound discovery on July 6, 2009. In response, Husband propounded discovery on July 9, 2009. Wife responded to Husband's discovery on August 3, 2009. In kind, Husband responded to Wife's discovery on August 4, 2009. It was only immediately prior to the hearing that Wife's counsel made an oral request for a continuance alleging that "there are some issues that we feel like we are not prepared to respond to, if the proof goes along the lines of what is in those

discovery responses." In contesting Wife's request for a continuance, Husband's attorney noted that the attorneys had discussed the previous day in full detail what to expect from discovery and nothing unexpected was in the discovery responses. (R.E. 00052.) It is also important to note that the discovery from Husband to Wife was actually provided only 29 days after it had been propounded.

In response to Husband's attorney's statement, the Chancellor asked Wife's attorney the following: "Is there anything that was sent to you in discovery this morning that you have seen, Mr. Bailey, that really shocks you, or is so voluminous that you haven't had a chance to go through, or is incomprehensible that constitutes undue surprise?" (R.E. 00053.) Wife's attorney responded as follows: "Your Honor, Mr. Priest informed me late yesterday afternoon when I spoke that there would be some allegations in discovery that my client consumed alcoholic beverages. Perhaps I did not understand the degree that it was going to be an issue, and, apparently, her consumption of alcoholic beverages will be an important issue as far as trying to prove a substantial material change in circumstances....There are some other things in here, your Honor, that we just believe cannot be factually supported, but I'm not prepared to rebut that here today having only had a couple of hours notice." In denying the oral request, the Court noted that the matter was a Rule 81(d)(2) hearing and it had been continued once before. (R.E. 00054.) Furthermore, the Chancellor provided:

"[I]n part because of that, I am going to overrule your motion for a continuance, but I will allow this case to be held open for rebuttal purposes if there needs to be any. Pick a date, time and place certain at the conclusion of where we are going today."

The traditional law in Mississippi regarding whether to deny or grant a continuance is left at the sound discretion of the Chancellor. *Irby v. Estate of Irby*, 7 So.3d 223, 228 (Miss. 2009). The *Irby* court citing *Rives v. Rives*, 416 So.2d 653, 656 (Miss. 1982) noted the Court affords the decision

to the sound discretion of the Chancellor. It further stated that the Chancellor's decision would not be reversed unless there is shown an abuse of discretion.

In support of Wife's proposition that she suffered prejudice as a result of the Court's denial for continuance, Wife cites the Mississippi Supreme Court case of *Schepens v. Schepens*, 592 So.2d 108 (Miss. 1991). However, the *Schepens* case is easily distinguished from the instant matter. In *Schepens*, the parties went through protracted litigation as it related to their divorce. In the particular matter, one party propounded to the other party a second request for discovery which was not answered for 106 days after same was propounded. Also, Husband listed two witnesses who were not family members and their appearance was apparently a surprise. *Schepens*, at 109. As a result, Wife's attorney stated that he was unsuccessful in obtaining any information from the two witnesses due to the witnesses refusing to speak to him. Consequently, Wife's attorney requested a continuance of two weeks in order to depose the adverse witnesses. The Supreme Court found that the Chancellor's decision should be vacated because it demanded additional testimony. The opposite is true in the instant matter.

This hearing was set as a Rule 81(d)(2) matter and Wife was granted one continuance from the previous trial date. After the parties agreed to conduct some discovery, Husband filed his responses to the written discovery propounded unto him on the 29<sup>th</sup> day. Furthermore, if Wife's attorney had reasoned that there needed to be less time in responding to the discovery, he should have filed a motion pursuant to Rule 33 requesting the Court to shorten the length of time to respond. Wife's attorney chose not to file such a motion.

Wife's attorney also acknowledged that he had spoken with Husband's attorney on the afternoon prior to trial and that within that discussion it was disclosed that Wife's consumption of alcoholic beverages as well as her relationships would be an issue. Furthermore, the Chancellor

provided that the case would be held open for rebuttal purposes if there needed to be any. In fact, he allowed the parties to pick a date, time and place certain at the conclusion of the hearing in the matter. At no point, did Wife attempt to reopen the instant matter.

With regard to the two criminal cases cited by Wife, *Stewart v. State*, 512 So.2d 889 (Miss. 1987) and *Foster v. State*, 484 So.2d 1009 (Miss. 1986), each of the cases deal with a situation in which the State either failed to disclose a material witness or did not timely respond to discovery at all. In *Stewart v. State*, 512 So.2d 889, 891 (Miss. 1987), the Court noted "this Court has stated numerous times that the prosecution's obligation to afford discovery does not hinge on the Defendant's efforts to enforce it. A request is all that is necessary." In the *Stewart* matter, the Defendant filed for discovery approximately 85 days prior to trial. The State failed to timely comply with the discovery requests unlike in the instant matter.

Wife also argues that she did not know that her drinking habits and overnight male guests were major issues at trial. In support, Wife states that "neither of the children indicated a concern with these issues when Liz's counsel interviewed them prior to trial". However, in cross-examination of the parties' daughter, Ruth, Wife's counsel asked the following question:

- Q. "Now would you agree that when you came and you talked to me in my office, I spoke to you about what your concerns were and where you desired to live. You did not tell me anything about your mother's drinking being a concern on that occasion, did you?"
- A. "I feel like when I met with you, you asked questions and wrote down answers. I wasn't addressed that issue."

(R.E. 00155.)

In his cross-examination of the parties' youngest daughter, Mary, he asked the question:

Q. "Would you agree with me that when you met with me in my office, and I asked you about what some of your concerns were, you never mentioned one thing to me about your mother's drinking."

A. "If I hadn't, I guess I left it out but that is a big issue and I thought I told you. ..."

Regardless, it is disingenuous for Wife to argue that she was surprised by these "new allegations" at trial. First, Wife did not testify during the first day of trial. As such, she had time to discuss with counsel the issues of her drinking as well as her relationships. Also, it is curious to note that in her case in chief, Wife had the opportunity to recall both of her daughters which she chose not to do. Furthermore, and as discussed, the Chancellor gave Wife the option of leaving the case open to provide any rebuttal witnesses she might care to call. Again, Wife failed to do same. In the cases cited by Wife, each involves situations where discovery had not been complied with as provided under statute, unlike the instant matter wherein Husband filed his responses to the propounded discovery within the thirty (30) days allowed.

II. The Chancellor erred in finding that Paul met his burden of proving a substantial and material change in circumstance that adversely affected the best interests of the children, such that modification of custody was warranted.

As the case law clearly provides in custody cases, an Appellate Court must affirm findings of fact by Chancellors where they are supported by substantial evidence. *Holloman v. Holloman*, 691 So.2d 897, 898 (Miss. 1996). The Appellate Court may reverse the Chancellor's decision only if it is manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous, or if the Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. *Brocato v. Brocato*, 731 So.2d 1138, 1140 (Miss. 1999).

In order to modify child custody, at trial, the parent seeking custody and modification must show: (1) a material change in circumstances occurred since the issuance of the decree sought to be modified; (2) that the material change adversely affected the minor child; and (3) it would be in the child's best interest for custody to change. *Pruett v. Prinz*, 979 So.2d 745, 750 (Miss.App.2008).

Regardless, as provided in *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003 (Miss. 1983) "the best interest of the child remains the Court's polestar consideration."

Wife argues that the Chancellor changed custody solely on the basis of Wife relocating from Saltillo, Mississippi to Ocean Springs, Mississippi. As such, Wife cites several of what she refers as "geographical relocation cases". In each of the cases cited by Wife, the Supreme Court found the move was the sole basis for the non-custodial parent to have filed a motion for modification for child custody. For example, Bell v. Bell, 572 So.2d 841, 846 (Miss. 1990) is wholly distinguishable from the matter at hand. In Bell, the parties were granted a "no fault divorce" where the parties agreed to be bound by a provision in their property and separation agreement which provided "[T]hat neither the husband nor the wife shall move the children from the jurisdiction without the express written consent of the other. It being the mutual intent of both parties that the children live in the Tupelo area." Bell, at 841. Thereafter, the wife relocated to Jackson, Mississippi to ostensibly increase her economic and employment opportunities as a harpist. As a result, the husband filed a motion to modify citing the aforementioned provision. The Bell court held that the provision was unenforceable since "children of divorcing parents are, in a very practical sense, wards of the court which is by law, charged to regard their best interests." Bell at 845. The Bell court reasoned that an economic, employment opportunity relocation is not per se a material change of circumstances. See also Cheek v. Ricker, 431 So.2d 1139, 1144 (Miss. 1983) (change in residence to obtain civil employment was not in and of itself a basis for modification of child custody); Gray v. Gray, 969 So.2d 906, 908 (Miss. App. 2007) (relocation to a different state for increased economic opportunities is not a material change absent other circumstances); Williamson v. Williamson, 964 So.2d 524, 528-29 (Miss. App. 2007) (custodial father's relocation to Alaska is not a material change in circumstances per se).

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